Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: July 11, 2023 REVISED: September 11, 2023 ACCEPTED: October 1, 2023 PUBLISHED: October 26, 2023

Dynamics of Myers-Perry black holes with almost equal angular momenta in odd dimensions

Ryotaku Suzuki and Shinya Tomizawa

Mathematical Physics Laboratory, Toyota Technological Institute, 2-12-1 Hisakata, Tempaku-ku, Nagoya 468-8511, Japan

E-mail: sryotaku@toyota-ti.ac.jp, tomizawa@toyota-ti.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We investigate the nonlinear dynamics of D = 2N + 3 Myers-Perry black holes with almost equal angular momenta, which have N equal spins out of possible N + 1 spins. In particular, we study the ultraspinning instability and the fate of its nonlinear evolution using the large D effective theory approach. We find that every stationary phase can be mapped to the counterpart in the singly rotating phase within the leading order effective theory. From the known results of singly rotating solutions, we obtain the phase diagram of almost equally rotating black holes. We also obtain a certain implication for the possible topology changing transition.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes, Classical Theories of Gravity, Black Holes in String Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 2307.00848





Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|--------------|---|----|
| 2 | Setup | 3 |
| 3 | Metric solutions | 7 |
| | 3.1 Local event horizon | 8 |
| 4 | Large D effective theory | 9 |
| | 4.1 Stationary solutions | 11 |
| | 4.2 Thermodynamic variables | 13 |
| | 4.3 Reduction to the singly rotating phase | 16 |
| 5 | Stationary phases | 18 |
| | 5.1 Stationary phases in the singly rotating case: a review | 18 |
| | 5.2 Phase diagram | 20 |
| 6 | Discussion | 21 |
| A | ADM decomposition with CP^{N-1} reduction | 24 |
| в | Asymptotic behavior in the boosted ansatz | 25 |
| \mathbf{C} | Local event horizon, entropy and temperature | 26 |
| D | D = 2N + 3 Myers-Perry black holes | 28 |
| | D.1 Equal angular momenta: $N + 1$ equal spins | 28 |
| | D.2 Almost equal angular momenta: N equal spins | 29 |
| | | |

1 Introduction

Higher-dimensional (more than four dimensions) black holes and other extended black objects have played a central role in the research of gravitational theories. It is now evident that even within the vacuum Einstein theory, there is a much richer variety of black hole solutions in higher dimensions than in the four dimension since higher-dimensional black holes can have several rotations in multiple independent rotation planes and the relative competition between the gravitational and centrifugal potentials is essentially different from four dimensions. Such fascinating and profound nature is already found in the simplest rotating spherical solution derived by Myers and Perry [1].

In particular, in five-dimensional vacuum Einstein gravity, the first discovery of black ring solutions by Emparan and Reall [2] surprised many relativists because there are a rotating spherical hole and two rotating rings with the same mass and angular momentum, providing the evidence against the uniqueness property of black holes in higher dimensions in contrast to the four dimension. By the development of the solution-generating methods which are applicable to the five-dimensional vacuum Einstein equations, various exact solutions of other black objects were subsequently found. Pomerasky and Sen'kov [3] first succeeded in the construction of the black ring solutions with two independent rotations in the two orthogonal rotational planes. Elvang and Figueras [4] constructed the exact stationary asymptotically flat vacuum solution describing black saturn, i.e., a spherical black hole surrounded by a black ring. Iguchi and Mishima [5] found the exact solutions of two concentric rotating black rings called black dirings, and Elvang, Rodriguez [6] and Izumi [7] independently obtained the exact solutions of the dirings with spins around two independent planes describing two concentric orthogonal rotating black rings. Moreover, several authors [8–11] tried to find the vacuum solutions of black lenses which have the horizon of lens spaces topologies but unfortunately all of these attempts failed, though such solutions were found as supersymmetric regular solutions in the five-dimensional minimal ungauged supergravity [12, 13].

In contrast to the stable Kerr family in D = 4, Myers-Perry black holes have a multitude of instabilities at large enough angular momenta, which leads to richer dynamics. These so-called ultraspinning instabilities are caused by the deformation of the horizon shape due to the centrifugal forces [14]. Since Myers-Perry black holes are rotating around the multiple axes, different spin configurations can lead to different dynamics. The existence of such instabilities are first confirmed by the linear perturbation in several setups [15–17]. The outcome of the ultraspinning instability are well understood in the singly rotating setup. The numerical simulation revealed that this instability can end up with the fragmentation of the horizon accompanied by singular pinch-offs [18] as observed in the black string simulation [19]. The zero modes of the instability also leads to the deformed stationary phases which eventually are connected to multi black rings or saturns through the topology changing transition [20, 21]. On the other hand, such nonlinear phenomenon are not yet studied in more general configurations with multiple spins.

In higher dimensions, the dynamical analysis of black holes has been relied heavily on the numerical calculation in most cases due to the lack of analyticity. The large dimension limit, or *large D limit* [22–24] provides a (semi-)analytic and systematic procedure in the search of higher dimensional black holes at the cost of 1/D-expansion. Remarkably, the black hole dynamics is reformulated into a certain effective theory on the horizon surface, which is often called *large D effective theory* [25–27].

Moreover, the large D limit offers another useful simplification for rotating black holes, such that the near horizon geometry at the leading order coincides with that of the static solution whose line elements are replaced by the local boosted frame [28], so that the field equations become decoupled and integrable. With this property, the large D limit has been used for the study of the linear spectrum of the ultraspinning instability of equally rotating Myers-Perry black holes [29], the dynamics of the singly rotating Myers-Perry black holes [30], as well as the construction of equally rotating black holes with the Maxwell charge [31] and Gauss-Bonnet correction [32].

In particular, the dynamics of singly rotating black holes at large D has been investigated vigorously through the so-called *blob approximation*, in which the dynamics of a spherical black hole is identified as that of a Gaussian mass profile or *black blob* on the black brane magnifying the region around a polar axis of the black hole by \sqrt{D} [33]. The blob



Figure 1. Stationary phases of singly rotating black holes at large D obtained by the blob approximation [33–36]. The mass density profiles are given in the co-rotating cartesian coordinate.

approximation was helpful in finding various (non)axisymmetric stationary phases at large D [33–36] (figure 1). Although nonaxisymmetric horizons cannot remain stationary at finite D, they would exist as long-lived intermediate states at large enough D due to the e^{-D} -suppression of the radiation effect [37]. In fact, the numerical simulation in D = 6,7 actually provides the evidence of such long-lived intermediate states [39]. Beyond a single connected horizon, the blob approximation can also describe the collision of two separate black holes at large D [38, 40, 41]. The similar approximation was also used to study the dynamics of AdS black holes [42–44].

In this article, we study the nonlinear dynamics derived from ultraspinning instabilities of equally rotating Myers-Perry black holes in D = 2N + 3 using the large D limit. Focusing on the near polar dynamics, we obtain the dynamical effective theory of slightly broader case, i.e., N equal angular momenta plus one different momentum out of N + 1 angular momenta, which we call *almost equal rotation*. Surprisingly, we find that the large D effective theory is equivalent to that of the singly rotating case. Therefore, with the knowledge of singly rotating phases, the phase diagram is obtained for several sets of angular momenta.

The rest of the article is organized as follows. In section 2, the metric ansatz and scaling assumptions are explained. The metric solutions expanded in 1/D are shown in section 3. In section 4, we present the large D effective theory of almost equally rotating black holes. The phase diagram of stationary solutions are studied in section 5. We summarize and discuss the possible outcome in section 6. We also attach an auxiliary Mathematica notebook as supplementary material, that encloses the data for the metric solutions up to the next-to-leading order.

2 Setup

In this article, we study rotating black holes with in D = 2N + 3 dimension, solving the vacuum Einstein equation

$$R_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.1}$$

It is known that, if all N + 1-spins are equal, D = 2N + 3 Myers-Perry black holes have the enhanced symmetry of \mathbb{CP}^N with the S^1 -fibration [45], whose metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{F(r)}{H(r)}dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{F(r)} + r^{2}H(r)^{2}(\Phi + \Omega(r)dt)^{2} + r^{2}d\Sigma_{N}^{2}, \qquad \Phi := d\phi + \mathcal{A}_{N}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where \mathcal{A}_N and $d\Sigma_N^2$ are the Kähler potential and Fubini-Study metric on $\mathbb{C}P^N$, respectively. The metric components are given by

$$F(r) = 1 - \frac{r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N}} + \frac{a^2 r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2}}, \qquad H(r) = 1 + \frac{a^2 r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2}}, \qquad \Omega(r) = -\frac{a r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2} H(r)}.$$
 (2.3)

The main advantage of the large D limit is that the metric (2.2) locally approaches to the large D limit of the Schwarzschild metric [28, 29]

$$ds^{2} \simeq -\left(1 - \frac{1}{\mathsf{R}}\right) (dt')^{2} + \frac{d\mathsf{R}^{2}}{D^{2}\mathsf{R}(\mathsf{R}-1)} + r_{0}^{2}(\Phi')^{2} + r_{0}^{2}d\Sigma_{N}^{2}, \quad \mathsf{R} := \frac{(r/r_{0})^{2N}}{1 - a^{2}}, \quad (D \sim N \gg 1)$$

$$(2.4)$$

where the one forms (dt', Φ') is given by the local Lorentz boost of (dt, Φ) ,

 $dt' := \cosh \alpha \, dt - \sinh \alpha \, \Phi, \qquad \Phi' := \sinh \alpha \, dt - \cosh \alpha \, \Phi, \qquad \tanh \alpha := a/r_0. \tag{2.5}$

The same reduction is possible for other general cases of Myers-Perry black holes [28]. Hence, the large D limit of rotating black holes can be studied almost in parallel to the static case.

This metric admits the ultraspinning instability both in axisymmetric and nonaxisymmetric modes with respect to the ϕ coordinate [16, 29]. Here, we are interested in the end point of the instability at large D. To consider the nonlinear evolution of such instability, we must break the CP^N -symmetry. For this, it is convenient to decompose CP^N in terms of CP^{N-1} such that

$$d\Sigma_N^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta\cos^2\theta\Psi^2 + \sin^2\theta d\Sigma^2,$$

$$\mathcal{A}_N = \sin^2\theta\Psi, \qquad \Psi := d\psi + \mathcal{A},$$
 (2.6)

where \mathcal{A} and $d\Sigma^2$ are the Kähler potential and Fubini-Study metric on CP^{N-1} , respectively.

In the following analysis, we assume that the U(1)-symmetry for ϕ is broken in general, while the U(1)-symmetry for ψ is always kept. We also allow the black holes to have the angular velocity along ψ that corresponds to N spins out of N + 1 spins,¹ which we call *almost equal* rotations. This is because, at the large D limit, having N equal spins and N + 1 equal spins are approximately the same.

Blob approximation. To treat the dynamical deformation of the spherical horizon correctly, we apply the blob approximation by introducing the near polar coordinate z which zoom in around the ψ -axis at $\theta = \pi/2$, by $\sqrt{2N}$, such that

$$\theta := \frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{z}{\sqrt{2N}}.\tag{2.7}$$

¹We present the Myers-Perry solution with such setup in appendix D.2.

In the singly rotating case, the similar approximation leads to the simpler formulation in which the dynamics of spherical black holes is obtained through the analysis of the Gaussian blob on the black 2-brane [33]. Here we show that the almost equally rotating configuration admits the same approximation.

Let us demonstrate how the blob approximation improves a dynamical analysis at large D. For simplicity, we consider the scalar harmonics in a flat background

$$\nabla^2 f = 0, \tag{2.8}$$

where the background metric is decomposed by using the CP^{N-1} metric such that

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + dr^{2} + r^{2}\Phi^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta\cos^{2}\theta\Psi^{2} + r^{2}d\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}.$$
 (2.9)

For the zero modes $f(r, \phi, \theta) = e^{im\phi}R(r)S(\theta)$, the angular part of eq. (2.8) becomes

$$S''(\theta) + (N - 1 + N\cos(2\theta))\csc\theta\sec\theta S'(\theta) + \left(\ell(\ell + 2N) - m^2\sec^2\theta\right)S(\theta) = 0,$$
(2.10)

where $\ell(\ell + 2N)$ is the separation constant between R(r) and $S(\theta)$. Here we focus on the angular mode function $S(\theta)$. The exact solution regular at $\theta = 0$ is obtained as

$$S(\theta) = C\cos^m \theta \,_2 F_1\left(\frac{m-\ell}{2}, \frac{m+\ell}{2} + N, N, \sin^2 \theta\right). \tag{2.11}$$

For regularity at $\theta = \pi/2$, we must impose the quantization condition for ℓ ,

$$\ell = 2s + m, \qquad s = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(2.12)

In turn, by simply taking the limit $N \to \infty$, eq. (2.10) reduces to the first order equation

$$\cot\theta S'(\theta) + \ell S(\theta) = 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

which gives the leading solution in the 1/N-expansion

$$S(\theta) = C \cos^{\ell} \theta. \tag{2.14}$$

Clearly, this does not carry the information about the quantization condition (2.12). It is straightforward to show that adding the 1/N-correction does not improve the situation either.

The reason is because the limit $N \to \infty$ of $S(\theta)$ is not uniform in the entire range of $\theta \in [0, \pi/2]$, i.e., the 1/N-expansion of the exact solution (2.11) is consistent with eq. (2.14) only in the range $|\theta - \pi/2| \gg 1/\sqrt{N}$,²

$$S(\theta) \simeq C \cos^{\ell} \theta \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\tan^2 \theta/N) \right).$$
 (2.15)

 2 We used the formula

$$_{2}F_{1}(a,b+\lambda,\lambda,z) = (1-z)^{-a} \left(1-\frac{ab}{\lambda}\frac{z}{z-1}+\dots\right) \text{ for } \lambda \gg 1.$$

Thus, the solution (2.14) fails to capture the boundary behavior at $\theta = \pi/2$. One can also check that the zeros of the exact mode function (2.11) with (2.12) gather around $\theta - \pi/2 = \mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{N})$ for $N \gg 1$. In fact, the previous large D analysis with θ had to impose the condition (2.12) as an extra condition to the effective theory [29, 31].

On the other hand, the near polar coordinate z in eq. (2.7) properly resolves the regularity condition both at $\theta = 0$ $(z = \infty)$ and $\theta = \pi/2$ (z = 0) at $N \to \infty$. With eq. (2.7), eq. (2.10) at $N \to \infty$ becomes

$$z^{2}\tilde{S}''(z) + z(1 - 2z^{2})\tilde{S}'(z) + (2\ell z^{2} - m^{2})\tilde{S}(z) = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

where $\tilde{S}(z) := S(\pi/2 - z/\sqrt{2N})$. The solution regular at z = 0 is given by

$$\tilde{S}(z) = C z^m {}_1F_1\left(\frac{m-\ell}{2}, m+1, z^2\right).$$
(2.17)

It is easy to check that $\tilde{S}(z)$ diverges as e^{z^2} for $z \to \infty$ unless eq. (2.12) is satisfied.

Metric ansatz. Having these in mind, we consider the following metric ansatz

$$ds^{2} = -A(e^{(0)})^{2} + 2Ue^{(0)}dr - 2C_{i}e^{(0)}e^{(i)} + H_{ij}e^{(i)}e^{(j)} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}, \qquad (2.18)$$

where i, j = 1, 2, 3 and the boosted frame is given by

$$e^{(0)} := \gamma(dt - \Omega(d\phi + \sin^2 \theta \Psi)), \qquad e^{(1)} := \gamma(d\phi + \sin^2 \theta \Psi - \Omega dt),$$
$$e^{(2)} := d\theta, \qquad e^{(3)} := \sin \theta \cos \theta \Psi, \qquad \gamma := \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \Omega^2}}.$$
(2.19)

In the following analysis, for convenience, we use

$$n := 2N \tag{2.20}$$

as the large parameter and consider the expansion in 1/n instead of 1/D or 1/N. The near horizon coordinate are introduced by

$$\mathsf{R} := (r/r_0)^n, \tag{2.21}$$

where we set $r_0 = 1$. In the z-coordinate (2.7), the boosted frame (2.19) is approximated by

$$e^{(0)} = \gamma(dt - \Omega(d\phi + \Psi)) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}), \qquad e^{(1)} = \gamma(d\phi + \Psi - \Omega dt) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}),$$
$$e^{(2)} = -\frac{dz}{\sqrt{n}}, \qquad e^{(3)} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{n}} \left(\Psi + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\right).$$
(2.22)

For later convenience, we also define the rescaled frame which remains $\mathcal{O}(1)$ at $n \to \infty$,

$$\hat{e}^{(0)} = e^{(0)}, \quad \hat{e}^{(1)} := e^{(1)}, \quad \hat{e}^{(2)} := -\sqrt{n}e^{(2)} \quad \hat{e}^{(3)} := \sqrt{n}e^{(3)}.$$
 (2.23)

To obtain the reasonable solution at $n \to \infty$, we should scale each components of C_i and H_{ij} as

$$C_{1} = \frac{1}{n}\hat{C}_{1}, \qquad C_{2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{C}_{2}, \qquad C_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{C}_{3},$$

$$H_{ii} = \hat{H}_{ii}, \qquad H_{23} = -\hat{H}_{23}, \qquad H_{12} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{H}_{12}, \qquad H_{13} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{H}_{13}. \qquad (2.24)$$

Then, the rescaled components are expanded in 1/n as functions of (R, t, ϕ, z) ,

$$A = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{A^{(k)}}{n^k}, \qquad U = 1 + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{U^{(k)}}{n^k}, \qquad \hat{C}_i = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{C_i^{(k)}}{n^k}, \qquad \hat{H}_{ij} = \delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{H_{ij}^{(k)}}{n^k}.$$
(2.25)

To remain the asymptotic flatness, each variables should follow the asymptotic boundary condition at $R \to \infty$ given in appendix. B.

3 Metric solutions

Now, we solve the metric solution in the 1/n-expansion (2.25) up to the next-to-leading order (NLO) by integrating the evolution equations with respect to R. The constraint equations are imposed in the later section to obtain the effective equation.

Leading order. The leading order solutions can be obtained as

$$A^{(0)} = 1 - \frac{m(t,\phi,z)}{\mathsf{R}}, \qquad C_i^{(0)} = \frac{p_i(t,\phi,z)}{\mathsf{R}} - \frac{2\Omega}{1-\Omega^2}\log\mathsf{R}\,\delta_{i1}, \tag{3.1a}$$

$$H_{11}^{(0)} = \frac{2}{1 - \Omega^2} \log \mathsf{R}, \qquad H_{ij}^{(0)} = 2 \log \mathsf{R}\delta_{ij} + \frac{p_i(t, \phi, z)p_j(t, \phi, z)}{m(t, \phi, z)\mathsf{R}} \text{ for } (i, j) \neq (1, 1)$$
(3.1b)

and

$$U^{(0)} = -\frac{\Omega^2 \log \mathsf{R}}{1 - \Omega^2} - \frac{p_2(t, \phi, z)^2 + p_3(t, \phi, z)^2}{2m(t, \phi, z)\mathsf{R}},$$
(3.1c)

where $m(t, \phi, z)$ and $p_i(t, \phi, z)$ are integration functions of R-integrals, which correspond to the mass density and momentum densities. Note that m and p_i are not arbitrary functions, but must be solutions of the effective equation that will be presented later. The horizon is given by R = m at the leading order. The metric functions other than A and C_i are imposed the regularity at R = m as well as the asymptotic boundary condition.

Next-to-leading order. As usual in the large D effective theory analysis, in the higher order, there are ambiguities in the solution of $A^{(k)}$ and $C_i^{(k)}$ that corresponds to the redefinition of m and p_i . For simplicity, we set so that

$$A^{(k)}(\mathsf{R}=m) = 0, \quad C^{(k)}(\mathsf{R}=m) = 0 \quad (k > 0).$$
 (3.2)

One should note that the former condition does not necessarily sets the event horizon at R = m up to NLO. Later, we will see that the event horizon differs from R = m at $\mathcal{O}(1/n)$, when m is not constant. As we will see later, the event horizon can differ from R = m in general from $\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})$. The NLO solutions are given by

$$A^{(1)} = -\frac{2\Omega^2}{1-\Omega^2}\log\mathsf{R} + \frac{(-z\partial_z p_2 + (z^2-1)p_2 + \partial_\phi p_2)\log(\mathsf{R}/m)}{z\mathsf{R}} - \frac{2\Omega^2 m\log m}{(\Omega^2 - 1)\mathsf{R}}, \quad (3.3)$$

and

$$C_{1}^{(1)} = \frac{\log(\mathsf{R}/m)}{\mathsf{R}} \left(\frac{z\partial_{z}p_{1}p_{2} - \partial_{\phi}p_{1}p_{3} + p_{1}\left(z\partial_{z}p_{2} - (z^{2} - 1)p_{2} - \partial_{\phi}p_{3}\right)}{zm} + \frac{p_{1}\left(\partial_{\phi}mp_{3} - z\partial_{z}mp_{2}\right)}{zm^{2}} \right) - \frac{2\Omega}{1 - \Omega^{2}} \left(\log^{2}\mathsf{R} - \frac{m\log^{2}m}{\mathsf{R}}\right), \quad (3.4)$$
$$C_{2}^{(1)} = \frac{\log(\mathsf{R}/m)}{\mathsf{R}} \left(-\frac{p_{2}\left(\partial_{\phi}p_{3} - 2z\partial_{z}p_{2}\right) + p_{3}\left(\partial_{\phi}p_{2} + p_{3}\right) + (z^{2} - 1)p_{2}^{2}}{zm} + \frac{p_{2}\left(\partial_{\phi}mp_{3} - z\partial_{z}mp_{2}\right)}{2} + 2\gamma\Omega p_{3} \right), \quad (3.5)$$

$$+ \frac{p_2(\partial_{\phi}mp_3 - z\partial_z mp_2)}{zm^2} + 2\gamma\Omega p_3), \qquad (3.5)$$

$$C_3^{(1)} = \frac{\log(\mathsf{R}/m)}{\mathsf{R}} \left(\frac{p_3(z\partial_z p_2 - 2\partial_{\phi}p_3) + p_2(z\partial_z p_3 - (z^2 - 2)p_3)}{zm} + \frac{p_3(\partial_{\phi}mp_3 - z\partial_z mp_2)}{zm^2} - 2\gamma\Omega p_2 \right), \qquad (3.6)$$

and

$$H_{11}^{(1)} = -\frac{2\Omega^2 \log^2 \mathsf{R}}{1 - \Omega^2} + \frac{p_1^2}{\mathsf{R}m}.$$
(3.7)

Because of the lengthy expressions, we will not show the detail, but other $H_{ij}^{(1)}$ and $U^{(1)}$ are also solved to evaluate thermodynamic variables up to NLO. We present the solutions up to NLO in the auxiliary Mathematica notebook.

3.1 Local event horizon

To keep track of the dynamical horizon, it is convenient to introduce a so-called local event horizon [46], which is later used to evaluate the entropy and temperature.

The position of the local event horizon $r = r_h(t, \phi, z)$ is defined as a null hypersurface $||dr - dr_h||^2 = 0$. In the boosted frame, the derivative of r_h is written as

$$dr_h = \partial_0 r_h e^{(0)} + \partial_i r_h e^{(i)}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where the dual basis is given by

$$\partial_{0} := \gamma(\partial_{t} + \Omega \partial_{\phi}), \qquad \partial_{1} := \gamma(\partial_{\phi} + \Omega \partial_{t}), \qquad \partial_{2} := \partial_{\theta} = -\sqrt{n}\partial_{z},$$

$$\partial_{3} := \csc\theta \sec\theta \partial_{\psi} - \tan\theta \partial_{\phi} = \frac{\sqrt{n}}{z}(\partial_{\psi} - \partial_{\phi} + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})). \qquad (3.9)$$

We also introduce the rescaled dual basis by

$$\hat{\partial}_0 := \partial_0, \qquad \hat{\partial}_1 := \partial_1, \qquad \hat{\partial}_2 := -\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\partial_2, \qquad \hat{\partial}_3 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\partial_3.$$
 (3.10)

With the metric up to NLO, the null condition $||dr - dr_h||^2 = 0$ leads to

$$\mathsf{R}_{h} := r_{h}^{n} = m - \frac{1}{n} \left(\frac{(p_{2} - \partial_{z}m)^{2}}{m} + \frac{(p_{3} - z^{-1}\partial_{\phi}m)^{2}}{m} - 2\gamma z^{2}(\partial_{t} + \Omega\partial_{\phi})m \right) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-2}).$$
(3.11)

The cross section with the t = const. surface is then given by

$$ds_H^2 = H_{ij}(e^{(i)} - v^i e^{(0)})(e^{(j)} - v^j e^{(0)}) + r_h^2 \cos^2(z/\sqrt{n}) d\Sigma^2, \qquad (3.12)$$

where the leading order solution (3.1) leads to

$$v^{1} = \frac{1}{n}\hat{v}^{1} = \frac{1}{n}\left(\frac{p_{1} - \hat{\partial}_{1}m}{m} - 2\gamma^{2}\Omega\log m\right),$$

$$v^{2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{v}^{2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\frac{p_{2} - \hat{\partial}_{2}m}{m},$$

$$v^{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\hat{v}^{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\frac{p_{3} - \hat{\partial}_{3}m}{m}.$$
(3.13)

In the coordinate basis, this is rewritten as

$$ds_{H}^{2} = \tilde{H}_{ab}(dy^{a} - v^{a}dt)(dy^{b} - v^{b}dt) + r_{H}^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where \tilde{H}_{ab} $(a, b = \phi, z, \psi)$ is obtained from H_{ij} with the transformation (C.9) and

$$v^{\phi} = \Omega - v^{\psi} + \frac{1}{n} (\gamma^{-2} \hat{v}_1 + z^2 v^{\psi}) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-2}),$$

$$v^z = \gamma^{-1} \hat{v}^2 + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}),$$

$$v^{\psi} = \frac{\hat{v}^3}{\gamma z} + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}).$$
(3.15)

4 Large D effective theory

Substituting the leading order solution (3.1) to the constraint equations on the R = const. surface, we obtain the following effective equation

$$\begin{aligned} (\gamma\partial_t + \gamma\Omega\partial_\phi)m - \frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi \left(p_3 + \frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi m\right) + (\partial_z - z + z^{-1})(p_2 - \partial_z m) &= 0, \end{aligned} \tag{4.1a} \\ (\gamma\partial_t + \gamma\Omega\partial_\phi)p_1 - (\partial_z - z + z^{-1})\left(\partial_z p_1 - \frac{p_1 p_2}{m}\right) - \frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi \left(\frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi p_1 + \frac{p_1 p_3}{m}\right) \\ + \gamma^2\Omega\left((\partial_z - z + z^{-1})(\partial_z m + p_2) + z^{-2}\partial_\phi^2 m - z^{-1}\partial_\phi p_3\right) \\ + 2\gamma\left[z^{-1}\partial_\phi p_2 + (\partial_z - z + z^{-1})p_3\right] + \gamma\partial_\phi m = 0, \end{aligned} \tag{4.1b}$$

$$(\gamma\partial_t + \gamma\Omega\partial_\phi)p_2 - (\partial_z - z + z^{-1})\left(\partial_z p_2 - \frac{p_2^2}{m}\right) - \frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi\left(\frac{1}{z}\partial_\phi p_2 + \frac{p_2p_3}{m}\right) + \partial_z m\left(\frac{2\Omega^2 - 1}{\Omega^2 - 1}\right) - \frac{2\partial_\phi p_3}{z^2} - \left(1 - z^{-2}\right)p_2 - \frac{p_3^2}{zm} + 2\gamma\Omega\left(p_3 + z^{-1}\partial_\phi m\right) = 0,$$

$$(4.1c)$$

$$(\gamma \partial_t + \gamma \Omega \partial_\phi) p_3 - (\partial_z - z + z^{-1}) \left(\partial_z p_3 - \frac{p_2 p_3}{m} \right) - \frac{1}{z} \partial_\phi \left(\frac{1}{z} \partial_\phi p_3 + \frac{p_3^2}{m} \right) - \frac{1}{z} \partial_\phi m \left(\frac{2\Omega^2 - 1}{\Omega^2 - 1} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{2\partial_\phi p_2}{z^2} + \left(1 - z^{-2} \right) p_3 + \frac{p_2 p_3}{zm} + 2\gamma \Omega (\partial_z m - p_2) = 0.$$
 (4.1d)

As discussed in ref. [25], these equations can be understood as an effective theory living in the overlap region \mathcal{B} between the near-horizon and asymptotic regions, $1 \ll \mathbb{R} \ll e^n$ (or $1 \ll \log \mathbb{R} \ll n$), where the metric on the $\mathbb{R} = \text{const.}$ surface becomes expanded both in 1/nand $1/\mathbb{R}$ as

$$ds_{\mathcal{B}}^2 \simeq -dt^2 + (d\phi + (1 - z^2/n)(d\psi + \mathcal{A}))^2 + \frac{1}{n}(dz^2 + z^2(d\psi + \mathcal{A})^2) + (1 - z^2/n)d\Sigma^2.$$
(4.2)

Spectrum around equally rotating Myers-Perry black holes. The uniform solution corresponds to the equally rotating Myers-Perry black hole

$$m = 1, \qquad p_i = 0.$$
 (4.3)

One can see that the known spectrum are reproduced by considering the stationary perturbation

$$m = 1 + \varepsilon e^{ik(\phi - \Omega t)} f_0(z), \qquad p_i = \varepsilon \delta p_i e^{ik(\phi - \Omega t)} f_i(z).$$
(4.4)

Plugging this into eqs. (4.1), we obtain the master equation for $f_0(z)$

$$f_0''(z) - \left(z - \frac{1}{z}\right)f_0'(z) + \left(\frac{1}{1 - \Omega^2} - \frac{k^2}{z^2}\right)f_0(z) = 0,$$
(4.5)

and $f_i(z)$ are written in terms of $f_0(z)$. By introducing the new variables

$$x := \frac{z^2}{2}, \qquad \tilde{f}_0(x) := z^{-k/2} f_0(z),$$
(4.6)

this reduces to the associated Laguerre equation

$$x\tilde{f}_{0}''(x) + (k+1-x)\tilde{f}_{0}'(x) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{1-\Omega^{2}} - k\right)\tilde{f}_{0}(x) = 0.$$
(4.7)

Hence, the uniform solution has the normalizable stationary mode only if

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{1-\Omega^2}-k\right) = I, \quad I = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.8)

or

$$\Omega = \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{k + 2I}}.\tag{4.9}$$

This is consistent with the perturbative analysis at large D [29, 31]. The mode function is given by the associated Laguerre polynomial

$$f_0(z) = C z^k L_I^k \left(\frac{z^2}{2}\right). \tag{4.10}$$

Conservation form. The physical meaning of the effective equation is clearer if we switch the variables from (m, p_i) to (m, \hat{v}^i) . Eq. (4.1a) can be rewritten in the form of the mass conservation

$$\hat{\partial}_0 \left(z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} m \right) + \hat{\partial}_2 \left(z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} m \hat{v}_2 \right) + \hat{\partial}_3 \left(z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} m \hat{v}_3 \right) = 0, \tag{4.11}$$

where the extra factor comes from the volume of the spacial cross section at large D

$$\sin\theta\cos\theta \times \sin^{n-2}\theta \simeq ze^{-\frac{z^2}{2}}.$$
(4.12)

We do not show the detail, but one can also find that eqs. (4.1b) and (4.1d) can be written in terms of the conservation of the Brown-York tensor in the direction of ϕ and ψ as well. Note that eq. (4.1c) cannot be written in the conservation, reflecting the fact that the asymptotic background is not symmetric in z (or θ).

4.1 Stationary solutions

Now we show a stationary assumption reduces eq. (4.1) to a single master equation. First, we clarify the stationary condition for the effective theory. From eq. (3.14), the horizon null generator ξ is given by

$$\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} = \partial_t + v^{\phi}\partial_{\phi} + v^z\partial_z + v^{\psi}\partial_{\psi}.$$
(4.13)

To obtain the stationary horizon, the horizon must stay at the same position along ξ

$$(\partial_t + v^a \partial_a)m = 0. \tag{4.14}$$

As in ref. [33], we also require that ξ becomes the Killing vector of the metric (4.2), which imposes

$$\partial_t v^a = 0, \tag{4.15}$$

and the shear free condition

$$\sigma_{ab} := D_{(a}v_{b)} = 0, \quad v_a := h_{ab}v^b, \tag{4.16}$$

where h_{ab} is the spacial part of eq. (4.2) and D_a are the covariant derivatives for h_{ab} .

In the orthogonal frame of h_{ab} , the shear tensor becomes

$$\sigma_{11} \simeq \frac{1}{\gamma^2 n} \partial_{\phi} \hat{v}_1, \qquad \sigma_{12} \simeq -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{n}\gamma^2} (\partial_z \hat{v}^1 + \gamma \partial_{\phi} \hat{v}^2 + 2\gamma \hat{v}^3),$$

$$\sigma_{13} \simeq -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{n}z\gamma^2} (\partial_{\phi} \hat{v}^1 + 2z\gamma \hat{v}^2 - z\gamma \partial_{\phi} \hat{v}^3),$$

$$\sigma_{22} \simeq \gamma^{-1} \partial_z \hat{v}_2, \qquad \sigma_{23} \simeq \frac{1}{2\gamma z} (-z\partial_z \hat{v}^3 + \hat{v}^3 + \partial_{\phi} \hat{v}^2), \qquad \sigma_{33} \simeq \frac{\hat{v}^2 - \partial_{\phi} \hat{v}^3}{\gamma z}, \qquad (4.17)$$

where $\sigma_{ij} := E_i^a E_j^b \sigma_{ab}$ with

$$E_a^1 dy^a = d\phi + (1 - z^2/n + \dots)\Psi, \qquad E_a^2 dy^a = -\frac{1}{n} dz, \qquad E_a^3 dy^a = \frac{z}{\sqrt{n}}\Psi + \dots$$
(4.18)

The only solution that satisfies eqs. (4.15) and (4.16) and regular at z = 0 is

$$\hat{v}^1 = -\gamma^2 z^2 \Omega_{\psi} + \Omega_1, \qquad \hat{v}^2 = 0, \qquad \hat{v}^3 = \gamma z \Omega_{\psi},$$
(4.19)

where Ω_1 and Ω_{ψ} are the constants. This is equivalent to

$$v^{\phi} = \Omega - \Omega_{\psi} + \Omega_1/n, \qquad v^z = 0, \qquad v^{\psi} = \Omega_{\psi}.$$
 (4.20)

Using the parameter shift $\Omega \to \Omega + \mathcal{O}(1/n)$, we can always set $\Omega_1 = 0$ and the null generator becomes

$$\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} = \partial_t + (\Omega - \Omega_{\psi})\partial_{\phi} + \Omega_{\psi}\partial_{\psi}. \tag{4.21}$$

We should note that, although we started from the equally rotating ansatz, our setup also includes the states between N + 1 equal spins for $\Omega_{\psi} = 0$ and N equal spins for $\Omega_{\psi} = \Omega$.

Therefore, from the conditions (4.14) and (4.21), m must take the form of

$$m = \exp \mathcal{P}(\phi - (\Omega - \Omega_{\psi})t, z), \qquad (4.22)$$

and p_i are, then, expressed by \mathcal{P} through eqs. (3.13) and (4.19) as

$$p_1 = (\hat{\partial}_1 \mathcal{P} - \gamma^2 z^2 \Omega_{\psi} + 2\Omega \gamma^2 \mathcal{P}) e^{\mathcal{P}}, \qquad p_2 = \hat{\partial}_2 \mathcal{P} e^{\mathcal{P}}, \qquad p_3 = (\hat{\partial}_3 \mathcal{P} + \Omega_{\psi} \gamma z) e^{\mathcal{P}}.$$
(4.23)

Plugging these into the effective equation (4.1), we obtain a single master equation

$$\partial_z^2 \mathcal{P} + \left(z^{-1} - z\right) \partial_z \mathcal{P} + \frac{1}{z^2} \partial_\phi^2 \mathcal{P} + \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_z \mathcal{P})^2 + \frac{1}{z^2} (\partial_\phi \mathcal{P})^2 \right) + \gamma^2 (\mathcal{P} - \mathcal{P}_0) + \frac{1}{2} \Omega_\psi (\Omega_\psi - 2\Omega) \gamma^2 z^2 = 0,$$

$$(4.24)$$

where the parameter \mathcal{P}_0 is the integration constant that fixes the horizon scale. For simplicity, we set $\mathcal{P}_0 = 0$. A remarkable fact is that, with change of the variable

$$\mathcal{P} = -2(1 - \Omega^2) + \frac{z^2}{2} + \bar{\mathcal{P}}, \qquad (4.25)$$

eq. (4.24) coincides with the master equation for the singly rotating case [33]

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}^2 \bar{\mathcal{P}} + \frac{1}{\bar{z}} \partial_{\bar{z}} \bar{\mathcal{P}} + \frac{1}{\bar{z}^2} \partial_{\phi}^2 \bar{\mathcal{P}} + \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_{\bar{z}} \bar{\mathcal{P}})^2 + \frac{1}{\bar{z}^2} (\partial_{\phi} \bar{\mathcal{P}})^2 \right) + \bar{\mathcal{P}} + \frac{1}{2} \omega_s^2 \bar{z}^2 = 0, \qquad (4.26)$$

where

$$\bar{z} := \gamma z, \qquad \omega_s := (\Omega_\psi - \Omega)\sqrt{1 - \Omega^2}.$$
(4.27)

Therefore, the results for the single rotating case [33–36, 40] can be carried to the almost equally rotating case straightforwardly. In the later section, we will see how the phase diagram is mapped as well. One must note that this coincidence is not guaranteed up to the higher order in 1/n.

4.2 Thermodynamic variables

ADM charges. Reflecting the background symmetry in t, ϕ, ψ , we have the conserved asymptotic charges of M, J_{ϕ}, J_{ψ} , which are given in terms of Brown-York's quasi local tensor calculated by

$$8\pi G T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} := \lim_{\mathsf{R} \to \infty} \sqrt{h} (K \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - K^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) - 8\pi G \tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}, \qquad (4.28)$$

where ∇_{μ} and $K_{\mu\nu}$ is the covariant derivative and extrinsic curvature of the intrinsic metric $h_{\mu\nu}$ on the R = const-surface. The regulator $\tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ is determined so that $\nabla_{\mu}\tilde{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} =$ 0. Corresponding to the background Killing vector $\partial_t, \partial_{\phi}, \partial_{\psi}$, these tensors satisfy the conservation law

$$\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{t} = 0, \qquad \partial_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{\phi} = 0, \qquad \partial_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{\psi} = 0.$$
 (4.29)

The ADM mass is given by

$$M := \frac{n\Omega_{n+1}}{16\pi G} \int \rho_M dV_{(z,\phi)}, \qquad \int dV_{(z,\phi)} := \int_0^\infty dz \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\phi}{2\pi}, \tag{4.30}$$

where the mass density up to NLO is calculated by the metric solution up to NLO as

$$\rho_{M} := -16\pi G n T^{t}{}_{t} = \gamma^{2} z e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{2}} \left[m + \frac{1}{n} \left(\left(1 + \frac{z^{2}}{3} - \frac{z^{4}}{12} \right) m - 2\gamma^{2} \Omega^{2} m \log m - \left(2 - \Omega^{2} + \log m \right) ((\partial_{z} - z + z^{-1}) p_{2} - z^{-1} \partial_{\phi} p_{3}) + 2\Omega \left(p_{1} - \gamma \left(1 - \Omega^{2} \right) \partial_{\phi} m \right) - \gamma \Omega^{2} (\partial_{t} + \Omega \partial_{\phi}) m \right) \right],$$

$$(4.31)$$

and we used the relation between the volume of $CP^{\frac{n}{2}-1}$ and that of *n*-sphere Ω_n ,

$$\Omega_{n+1} = \frac{2\pi}{n} \Omega_{n-1} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{n} \operatorname{vol} \left(CP^{\frac{n}{2}-1} \right).$$
(4.32)

Similarly, we define the angular momentum densities in ϕ and ψ directions by

$$\rho_{\phi} = 16\pi G n T^{t}{}_{\phi}, \qquad \rho_{\psi} = 16\pi G n T^{t}{}_{\psi}, \qquad (4.33)$$

and the angular momenta are written by

$$J_{\phi} = \frac{n\Omega_{n+1}}{16\pi G} \int \rho_{\phi} dV_{(z,\phi)}, \qquad J_{\psi} = \frac{n\Omega_{n+1}}{16\pi G} \int \rho_{\psi} dV_{(z,\phi)}.$$
(4.34)

It turns out that ρ_{ϕ} and ρ_{ψ} are proportional to ρ_M at the leading order, and hence we only show the difference at the sub-leading order

$$\rho_{\phi} = \Omega \rho_M + \frac{\delta \rho_{\phi}}{n}, \quad \rho_{\psi} = \Omega \rho_M + \frac{\delta \rho_{\psi}}{n}, \tag{4.35}$$

where

$$\delta \rho_{\phi} := z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \left(\gamma^2 \Omega m + p_1 + \Omega (\partial_z - z + z^{-1}) p_2 - \gamma \left(1 - \Omega^2 \right) \partial_{\phi} m - \Omega z^{-1} \partial_{\phi} p_3 \right),$$

$$(4.36)$$

$$\delta \rho_{\psi} := z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \left(\gamma^2 \Omega \left(1 - z^2 \right) m + p_1 + z \gamma p_3 + \Omega (\partial_z - z + z^{-1}) p_2 + \gamma \Omega^2 \partial_{\phi} m - \Omega z^{-1} \partial_{\phi} p_3 \right).$$

$$(4.37)$$

With the velocity fields (3.13), this can be written as

$$\delta\rho_{\phi} = ze^{-\frac{z^2}{2}}m\left(\Omega\gamma^2 + \hat{v}^1 + 2\Omega\gamma^2\log m\right) + \partial_a(\cdots)^a,\tag{4.38}$$

$$\delta\rho_{\psi} = ze^{-\frac{z^2}{2}}m\left(\hat{v}^1 + z\gamma\hat{v}^3 + 2\gamma^2\Omega\log m + \gamma^2\Omega(1-z^2)\right) + \partial_a(\cdots)^a, \qquad (4.39)$$

where $\partial_a(\dots)^a$ denotes the spacial divergence.

Entropy. The entropy of the dynamical horizon is calculated from the area of the local event horizon (3.14) as (see appendix C for detail)

$$S = \frac{\Omega_{n+1}}{4G} \int \rho_S \, dV_{(z,\phi)},\tag{4.40}$$

where the entropy density ρ_S is proportional to the linear combination of the mass and angular momentum and hence conserves at the leading order

$$\rho_S = \gamma(\rho_M - \Omega \rho_\phi) + \frac{1}{n} \delta \rho_S. \tag{4.41}$$

In terms of the velocity fields (3.13), the difference $\delta \rho_S$ is expressed as

$$\delta\rho_S = \gamma z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \left[\left(\gamma^2 \log m - 1 \right) m - \frac{m}{2} ((\hat{v}^2)^2 + (\hat{v}^3)^2) - \frac{(\partial_z m)^2}{2m} - \frac{(\partial_\phi m)^2}{2z^2m} \right] + \partial_a (\dots)^a.$$
(4.42)

Therefore, the nonconserving subleading correction is given by the following functional

$$S_{1} = \frac{\Omega_{n+1}}{4G} \int \delta\rho_{S} \, dV_{(z,\phi)}$$

= $\frac{\Omega_{n+1}\gamma}{4G} \int ze^{-\frac{z^{2}}{2}} \left[\left(\gamma^{2}\log m - 1 \right)m - \frac{m}{2} ((\hat{v}^{2})^{2} + (\hat{v}^{3})^{2}) - \frac{(\partial_{z}m)^{2}}{2m} - \frac{(\partial_{\phi}m)^{2}}{2z^{2}m} \right] dV_{(z,\phi)}.$
(4.43)

Temperature. The temperature is also defined in terms of the surface gravity $T = \kappa/(2\pi)$ on the local event horizon if the horizon null generator (4.21) is the Killing vector (see appendix C for detail). Plugging the metric solution into eq. (C.16), we obtain

$$T = \frac{n}{4\pi\gamma} \left[1 + \frac{1}{n} \left(-2\gamma^2 \Omega^2 - \gamma^2 \log m - \Omega \hat{v}^1 - \left(\partial_z + z^{-1} - z \right) \hat{v}^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\hat{v}^2)^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\hat{v}^3)^2 + \frac{(\partial_z m)^2}{2m^2} - \frac{\partial_z^2 m}{m} + \frac{(z^2 - 2z\hat{v}^2 - 1)\partial_z m}{zm} + \frac{2\hat{v}^3 \partial_\phi m}{zm} + \frac{(\partial_\phi m)^2}{2z^2m^2} + \frac{\partial_\phi \hat{v}^3}{z} - \frac{\partial_\phi^2 m}{z^2m} - \frac{2\gamma(\partial_t + \Omega \partial_\phi)m}{m} \right) \right].$$
(4.44)

By substituting eqs. (4.19) and (4.22), the use of the master equation (4.24) reduces this to the constant

$$T = \frac{n}{4\pi\gamma} \left(1 - \frac{2}{n}\gamma^2 \Omega^2 \right).$$
(4.45)

The extremal condition up to NLO is then given by

$$|\Omega| = 1 - \frac{1}{2n}.$$
(4.46)

First law and Smarr formula. With the stationary conditions (4.19) and (4.22), using eq. (4.24), one can show the first law up to $\mathcal{O}(1/n)$ by taking the variation in \mathcal{P} and Ω_{ψ} independently

$$\delta M = T\delta S + \Omega_{\phi}\delta J_{\phi} + \Omega_{\psi}\delta J_{\psi}, \qquad (4.47)$$

where $\Omega_{\phi} := \Omega - \Omega_{\psi}$. The Smarr formula can also be shown up to $\mathcal{O}(1/n)$

$$\frac{n+1}{n}M = TS + \Omega_{\phi}J_{\phi} + \Omega_{\psi}J_{\psi}.$$
(4.48)

Second law. With the use of eqs. (4.1), the time derivative of eq. (4.43) leads to the second law

$$\partial_t S = \frac{1}{n} \partial_t S_1$$

= $\frac{\Omega_{n+1}}{4Gn} \int dV_{(z,\phi)} z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \left(m \left(z^{-1} \partial_\phi \hat{v}^2 - \partial_z \hat{v}^3 + z^{-1} \hat{v}^3 \right)^2 + \frac{2m}{z^2} \left(\partial_\phi \hat{v}^3 - \hat{v}^2 \right)^2 + 2m (\partial_z \hat{v}^2)^2 \right) \ge 0.$
(4.49)

Then, the entropy production ceases if

$$\hat{v}^2 = 0, \quad \hat{v}^3 = \text{cosnt.} \times z.$$
 (4.50)

This is consistent with a part of the Killing condition (4.19). The contribution of \hat{v}_1 is suppressed to the subleading order in eq. (4.49), because of the scaling in eq. (2.22). Nevertheless, assuming the condition (4.50) in eq. (4.1), we obtain $m = \exp \mathcal{P}(\phi - v^{\phi}t, z)$ with $v^{\phi} = \text{const.}$ and the Laplace equation for $w(\phi - v^{\phi}t, z) := \hat{v}^1(\phi - v^{\phi}t, z) + \gamma z \hat{v}^3(z)$

$$\partial_z \left(e^{\mathcal{P}} z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \partial_z w \right) + \frac{1}{z^2} \partial_\phi \left(e^{\mathcal{P}} z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \partial_\phi w \right) = 0.$$
(4.51)

For the regular and normalizable solution both at z = 0 and $z = \infty$, w must be a constant as in (4.19).

It is less clear, but as in ref. [40], eq. (4.49) can be written as the square of the viscosity tensor (4.17)

$$\partial_t S = \frac{\Omega_{n+1}}{4Gn} \int z e^{\frac{z^2}{2}} 2\gamma^2 m h^{ab} h^{cd} \sigma_{ac} \sigma_{bd} dV_{(z,\phi)}, \qquad (4.52)$$

where h_{ab} is the spacial part of eq. (4.2). Here we note that only $\sigma_{22}, \sigma_{23}, \sigma_{33}$ contribute to the leading order in eq. (4.49).

4.3 Reduction to the singly rotating phase

All the above thermodynamic quantities can be mapped to those of singly rotating black holes through eqs. (4.25) and (4.27). First, we define normalized thermodynamical quantities by the mass scale to eliminate the scaling degree of freedom. The angular momenta normalized by the mass scale become

$$j_{\phi} := \frac{16\pi G J_{\phi}}{(n+2)\Omega_{n+1} r_M^{n+1}} = \tilde{\Omega} + \frac{1}{n} \delta j_{\phi}, \qquad j_{\psi} := \frac{16\pi G J_{\psi}}{n\Omega_{n+1} r_M^{n+1}} = \tilde{\Omega} + \frac{1}{n} \delta j_{\psi}, \tag{4.53}$$

where $\tilde{\Omega} := \Omega r_M$ and the mass scale is given by

$$r_M := \left(\frac{16\pi GM}{(n+1)\Omega_{n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \simeq 1 + \frac{1}{n} \log\left(\int \rho_M dV_{(z,\phi)}\right).$$
(4.54)

 δj_{ϕ} is given by

$$\delta j_{\phi} = \frac{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} (m\gamma^{-2}\hat{v}_1 + 2\Omega m \log m) dV_{(z,\phi)}}{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} m \, dV_{(z,\phi)}} - 2\Omega \log\left(\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} \gamma^2 m dV_{(z,\phi)}\right). \tag{4.55}$$

Instead of δj_{ψ} , it is more convenient to see the difference between j_{ψ} and j_{ϕ} since it vanishes for the equally rotating Myers-Perry $(j_{\phi} = j_{\psi})$,

$$\Delta j := \delta j_{\psi} - \delta j_{\phi} = n \left(j_{\psi} - j_{\phi} \right) = \frac{\int z^2 e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} (\gamma^{-1} m \hat{v}^3 + \Omega(2 - z^2) m) dV_{(z,\phi)}}{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} m dV_{(z,\phi)}}.$$
 (4.56)

Note that we keep using Ω instead of $\tilde{\Omega}$ in eqs. (4.55) and (4.56) as the difference only comes in the higher order (4.54).

With the stationary conditions (4.19) and (4.22), or equivalently (4.23), the normalized angular momenta (4.55) and (4.56) become

$$\delta j_{\phi} = -\Omega_{\psi} \frac{\int z^3 e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}}{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}} + 2\Omega \frac{\int z \mathcal{P} e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}}{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}} - 2\Omega \log\left(\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}\right),$$
(4.57)

$$\Delta j = 2\Omega - (\Omega - \Omega_{\psi}) \frac{\int z^3 e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}}{\int z e^{-\frac{z^2}{2}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(z,\phi)}}.$$
(4.58)

We show that these have simpler expressions using the singly rotating variables calculated in refs. [33, 35, 36]. In particular, with eqs. (4.25) and (4.27), eq. (4.58) can be expressed as

$$\Delta j = 2\Omega + \sqrt{1 - \Omega^2} j_s, \tag{4.59}$$

where $j_s = j_s(\omega_s)$ is the normalized angular momentum for the singly rotating black holes given by the solution to eq. (4.26) as

$$j_s := \frac{\int \omega_s \bar{z}^3 e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(\bar{z},\phi)}}{\int \bar{z} e^{\bar{\mathcal{P}}} dV_{(\bar{z},\phi)}},\tag{4.60}$$

and the angular velocity of the single rotation ω_s is given by Ω and Ω_{ψ} through eq. (4.27). Note that, by definition, j_s is an odd function of ω_s . Eq. (4.57) is also simplified as

$$\delta j_{\phi} = -\sqrt{1 - \Omega^2} j_s + 2\Omega (h_s - \log \mu_s)$$

= $-\Delta j + 2\Omega (h_s + 1 - \log \mu_s),$ (4.61)

where we used eq. (4.59) and $h_s = h_s(\omega_s)$ and $\mu_s = \mu_s(\omega_s)$ are calculated from the singly rotating solution

$$h_s := \frac{\int \bar{z} \bar{\mathcal{P}} e^{\mathcal{P}} dV_{(\bar{z},\phi)}}{\int \bar{z} e^{\bar{\mathcal{P}}} dV_{(\bar{z},\phi)}}, \quad \mu_s := \int \bar{z} e^{\bar{\mathcal{P}}} dV_{(\bar{z},\phi)}.$$
(4.62)

Once we specify the corresponding singly rotating family of the phase $j_s = j_s(\omega_s)$, Ω_{ψ} is determined as the functions of $(\Omega, \Delta j)$ through eqs. (4.27) and (4.59). The entropy (4.43) is normalized in the same way and expressed in terms of the singly rotating variables

$$s := \frac{4GS}{\Omega_{n+1}r_M^{n+1}} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\gamma}} \left[1 + \frac{\gamma^2}{n} \left(-\Omega\delta j_\phi + (2\Omega - \Delta j)\Omega - \omega_s j_s - \log\mu_s + 1 - 3\Omega^2 \right) \right].$$
(4.63)

Myers-Perry phases. As shown in ref. [33], eq. (4.26) admits the singly rotating Myers-Perry solution

$$\bar{\mathcal{P}} = \frac{2}{1+\bar{a}^2} \left(1 - \frac{\bar{z}^2}{4}\right),$$
(4.64)

which leads to $j_s := 2\bar{a}$ and

$$\omega_s = \frac{2j_s}{4+j_s^2}, \qquad \mu_s = \left(1 + \frac{j_s^2}{4}\right)e^{\frac{8}{4+j_s^2}}, \qquad h_s = 1 - \omega_s j_s. \tag{4.65}$$

One can easily check that the corresponding almost equally rotating phase is actually the Myers-Perry phase of a given $(\Omega, \Delta j)$. To confirm this, let us compare the corresponding phase with the large D limit of the exact Myers-Perry solution with almost equal angular momenta given in appendix D.2. The first equation of eq. (4.65) is inversely solved as

$$j_s = \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 4\omega_s^2}}{\omega_s}.$$
 (4.66)

Then, eqs. (4.27) and (4.59) reproduce eq. (D.24) at the leading order. The normalized entropy (4.63) is also consistent with eq. (D.22) at the leading order.

Entropy difference. Since the entropy (4.63) is insensitive to the horizon dynamics at the leading order, it is convenient to see only the difference from a reference phase. For this, we compare with the Myers-Perry solution with the same (j_{ϕ}, j_{ψ}) . Since $j_{\phi} \simeq j_{\psi} \simeq \Omega$, Ω is also the same at the leading order. Nevertheless, one should recall that we also have the degree of freedom to be adjusted that changes Ω in $\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})$ as in eq. (4.19). Thus, having the same j_{ϕ} does not necessarily means the same δj_{ϕ} , instead requires

$$j_{\phi} = \Omega + \frac{1}{n} (\Omega_1 + \Omega \log \mu_s + \delta j_{\phi}) = \Omega + \frac{1}{n} \left(\Omega_1^{\text{MP}} + \Omega \log \mu_s^{\text{MP}} + \delta j_{\phi}^{\text{MP}} \right), \tag{4.67}$$

where the quantities with MP denotes those for the Myers-Perry phase. This condition determines the difference in Ω_1 .

Then, the entropy difference from the Myers-Perry phase becomes

$$s - s_{\rm MP} = \frac{\gamma}{n} \left(-\omega_s j_s + \omega_s^{\rm MP} j_s^{\rm MP} - \log(\mu_s/\mu_s^{\rm MP}) \right), \tag{4.68}$$

where eq. (4.67) is used with the fact that

$$\frac{1}{\tilde{\gamma}} - \frac{1}{\tilde{\gamma}^{\mathrm{MP}}} \simeq \frac{\gamma}{n} \Omega \left(-\Omega_1 + \Omega_1^{\mathrm{MP}} - \Omega \log(\mu_s/\mu_s^{\mathrm{MP}}) \right).$$
(4.69)

To avoid the divergent behavior near the extremality, we define the entropy difference as

$$\Delta s := -\omega_s j_s + \omega_s^{\rm MP} j_s^{\rm MP} - \log(\mu_s/\mu_s^{\rm MP}).$$
(4.70)

Since eq. (4.59) leads to

$$j_s^{\rm MP} = \frac{\Delta j - 2\Omega}{\sqrt{1 - \Omega^2}} = j_s, \qquad (4.71)$$

eq. (4.65) means

$$\omega_s^{\rm MP} = \frac{2j_s}{4+j_s^2}, \qquad \mu_s^{\rm MP} = \left(1 + \frac{j_s^2}{4}\right) e^{\frac{8}{4+j_s^2}}.$$
(4.72)

Thus, eq. (4.70) is simplified to

$$\Delta s = 2 - \omega_s j_s - \log \mu_s + \log \left(1 + \frac{j_s^2}{4}\right). \tag{4.73}$$

Interestingly, this is identical to the entropy difference in the singly rotating case, in which case the comparison should be made with the singly rotating Myers-Perry phase.³ This suggests the thermodynamics for given $(\Omega, \Delta j)$ is identical with the corresponding singly rotating phase with (ω_s, j_s) . Hence, in the following, we do not distinguish Δs for the almost equally rotating case and that for the singly rotating case.

5 Stationary phases

5.1 Stationary phases in the singly rotating case: a review

Since the stationary phase in the almost equally rotating setup is mapped to the singly rotating phase, we first revisit the stationary phases in the singly rotating setup found in refs. [33, 35, 36]. In figure 2, the major stationary phases in the singly rotating case are shown:

• Myers-Perry black holes

³It has not been shown explicitly, but one can easily obtain from the entropy formula in ref. [40].



Figure 2. Stationary phases of the singly rotating black hole in (j_s, ω_s) [35].

- Black ripples: axisymmetric deformed branches of the Myers-Perry phase bifurcating from axisymmetric zero modes at $j_s = 2\sqrt{2k-1}$, (k = 2, 3, 4, ...). Here we call the corresponding branches as *k*-ripple. At the large deformation and large angular momentum, the horizon tends to be fragmented into several parts of ring shapes with/without a central Gaussian blob for even/odd branches, respectively. At finite D, they would eventually cause the topology-change to black multi-rings/saturns.
- Black bar: a nonaxisymmetric branch bifurcates from the zero mode of the bar mode instability at $j_s = 2$ [33]. At large deformation and large angular momentum, the profile tends to be infinitely elongated in one direction and becomes unstable to the Gregory-Laflamme type instability.
- Black dumbbells: deformed black bar branches bifurcate from the zero mode instabilities of the black bar at $j_s = 2k/\sqrt{2k-1}$, (k = 2, 3, 4, ...), which we call *k*-dumbbell for each *k*. At large deformation, both the angular momentum and angular velocity tend to be zero and the shape is fragmented into a multiple array of orbiting black blobs.

Typical profiles of these phases are shown in figure 1. A remarkable feature of the large D effective theory is that it admits the nonaxisymmetric stationary solutions, which cannot be stationary at finite D due to the radiation. This is because the effects of the gravitational wave emission is suppressed nonperturvative in D, i.e. $\sim e^{-D}$, and hence negligible in the 1/D-expansion [37]. One may doubt that such solutions are artifacts only at $D = \infty$. However, one may also interpret them as long-living intermediate states due to the low radiation rate at large enough D. In fact, the black hole-black hole collision simulation in D = 6, 7 captures relatively long-living black bar and dumbbell states [39].

In figure 3, we show the entropy of the above solutions given by eq. (4.73). Beyond the bar mode at $j_s = 2$, the most stable state is the black bar until the first zero mode takes place on the black bar at $j_s = 4/\sqrt{3}$. Then, 2-dumbbell branch becomes the most stable state beyond $j_s = 4/\sqrt{3}$ until it reaches to a turning point $j_{s,crit} \approx 2.662$. The numerical simulation in the large D effective theory indicates that the black hole collision results in



Figure 3. Entropy of singly rotating black holes compared with Myers-Perry black holes of the same mass and angular momentum, which are partially shown in ref. [40]. The close-ups for dumbbells and ripples are shown in the right panel.



Figure 4. Phase diagram of almost equally rotating black holes with $\Delta j = 0$. Each phases are labeled after the name of singly rotating counterparts.

the most entropically favored phase for the corresponding total angular momentum, where the collision always ends up in the fragmented profile for $j_s > j_{s,\text{crit}}$ [40].

5.2 Phase diagram

Finally, we present the phase diagram of almost equally rotating black holes in figure 4. Each phases are labelled by the name of corresponding singly rotating phases with double quotation, e.g., black bar \rightarrow "black bar". From singly rotating phases in figure 2, each

solutions with (ω_s, j_s) are mapped to (Ω, Ω_{ψ}) through eqs. (4.59) and (4.27) for given Δj . The corresponding solutions have the same entropy difference (4.73). Since the parameters has the symmetry of simultaneous flip of the sign

$$(\omega_s, j_s, \Omega, \Omega_{\psi}, \Delta j) \to (-\omega_s, -j_s, -\Omega, -\Omega_{\psi}, -\Delta j),$$
(5.1)

we can always choose $\Delta j \ge 0$ and instead consider the range $\Omega \in (-1, 1)$.

An important point is that eq. (4.59) sets the different parameter region for j_s for $\Omega \in (-1, 1)$ depending on the value of Δj :

1. $0 \le \Delta j < 2$: j_s monotonically decreases from $j_s = \infty (\Omega = -1)$ to $j_s = -\infty (\Omega = 1)$. Eq. (4.59) is solved as

$$\Omega = \frac{2\Delta j - j_s \sqrt{4 - \Delta j^2 + j_s^2}}{4 + j_s^2}.$$
(5.2)

- 2. $\Delta j = 2$: j_s monotonically decreases from $j_s = \infty (\Omega = -1)$ to $j_s = 0 (\Omega = 1)$. $\Omega = \Omega(j_s)$ is also given by eq. (5.2).
- 3. $\Delta j > 2$: j_s reaches to the minimum at $\Omega = 2/\Delta j$ and goes to ∞ both at $\Omega \to \pm 1$, that is, the value of j_s is bounded below

$$j_s \ge \sqrt{\Delta j^2 - 4}.\tag{5.3}$$

In this case, Ω is written as the multi-valued function of j_s

$$\Omega_{\pm} = \frac{2\Delta j \pm j_s \sqrt{4 - \Delta j^2 + j_s^2}}{4 + j_s^2},$$
(5.4)

where $-1 < \Omega_{-} < 2/\Delta j < \Omega_{+} < 1$.

In the third case, particularly, the lower bound of j_s largely affects the appearance of the phase diagram. For example, if $\Delta j > 2\sqrt{2}$, with which j_s is always above the bar mode threshold, the Myers-Perry solution cannot be stable and the black bar branch no longer bifurcates from the Myers-Perry phase (left panel of figure 5). We will not show all cases but the same phenomenon occurs for higher other branches as well at larger Δj . We also present the most preferable phase for given $(\Omega, \Delta j)$ in the right panel of figure 5.

 Ω_{ψ} for each phases is plotted in figure 6. It is interesting to note that even if we set $\Delta j = 0$, the deformed phases have nonzero Ω_{ψ} . This can be understood that the conservation of Δj in eq. (4.58) makes the difference in Ω_{ψ} due to the difference in the moment of inertia.

6 Discussion

In this article, we have investigated the dynamics of rotating black holes with almost equal angular momenta, which have N equal spins out of N + 1 spins, using the large D effective theory approach. We have first studied the nonlinear dynamics involving the ultraspinning



Figure 5. Left panel: the phase diagram for $\Delta j = 3$. Higher "dumbbells" are omitted for visibility. Right panel: the stable phases for given $(\Omega, \Delta j)$. The stable phase is Myers-Perry in the blue region $(j_s \leq 2)$, "black bar" in the red region $(2 \geq j_s \leq 4/\sqrt{3})$ and "2-dumbbell" in the green region $(4/\sqrt{3} \leq j_s \leq 2.662)$. Beyond the green region, none of these three are stable.



Figure 6. Ω_{ψ} for each phases with several values of Δj .

instability in the equally rotating case, which is found to be captured by the simple effective theory under the proper scaling ansatz at large D. We have found that the effective theory of almost equally rotating black holes reduces to that of singly rotating black holes in the stationary setup, and thermodynamical variables are also mapped to singly rotating counterparts. In particular, we have found that the phase diagram for stationary solutions shares the common microcanonical structure in both setups.

At finite D, the singly rotating setup admits axisymmetrically deformed phases, which are called bumpy black holes or ripples [20, 21]. It is expected that those branches are connected to branches of different topologies such as black rings or black saturns through the topology changing transition. In the blob approximation at large D, this topology changing transition takes place in a smooth and more unclear way. For example, the black ripples at the large deformation limit tend to be isolated ring-like Gaussian blobs with or without a central blob connected via thin black branes [35, 36] (figure 1). Since the 1/D-expansion breaks down if the mass density m becomes $m \sim e^{-D}$, such highly-deformed phases no longer describe the blob approximation of a single deformed black hole, but should rather describe black rings or saturns. This occurs for $j_s \sim \sqrt{D}$ and $\omega_s \sim 1/\sqrt{D}$ [36]. Then, one can see from eq. (4.59) that this corresponds to $\Omega = 1 - \mathcal{O}(1/D)$ in the almost equally rotating setup. However, the big difference from the singly rotating case is that Ω has the upper bound due to the extremality which is also given by $\Omega_{\text{ext}} = 1 - \mathcal{O}(1/D)$ (4.46). Therefore, in the almost equally rotating setup, the topology changing transition would not occur if the phase reaches its extremality before the transition. To confirm this, one has to examine higher order corrections in 1/D.

If the topology changing transition really ocurrs, another question is, what is the topology after the transition? Can they admit novel horizon topologies? Since the current ansatz has a twisted structure on CP^{N-1} , the horizon topology after the pinch-off is less clear than in the singly rotating ansatz. For this, the soap bubble analysis would hint the shape of the horizon [25]. This will be postponed to the future work.

It is straightforward to extend the analysis to more general cases with the cosmological constant, Maxwell field [31], or with the Gauss-Bonnet correction [32]. It would be worth to examine whether the similar large D correspondence between single rotating black holes and almost equal rotating black holes holds in such general cases.

In the AdS background, even in finite D, the equally rotating setup is known to admit nonaxisymmetric AdS black holes with only one Killing vector, called *black resonators* [47–52]. They are surrounded by the matter clouds or gravitational radiation which are maintained by the superradiant instability. One may pursue the possibility of such resonator-type solutions at large D, by applying the similar large D analysis in the AdS background. However, finding the equilibrium condition for the radiation would be difficult task at large D, since the effect of the radiation is suppressed by e^{-D} , and furthermore the radiating sector belongs to the higher frequency modes of $\omega \sim D$ [53], which are not described by the effective theory approach.

By adding a Kaluza-Klein circle to equally rotating black holes, one can obtain equally rotating black strings. The large D analysis in this setup will lead to black strings with nontrivial helical Killing vector as seen in D = 6 [54, 55]. This would also be an intriguing direction.

Acknowledgments

R.S. was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP18K13541. S.T. was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 21K03560.

A ADM decomposition with CP^{N-1} reduction

In the section 3, we solve the following reduced equation instead of the Einstein equation itself to save the computational resource.⁴ We consider the decomposition into the radial direction and others,

$$ds^2 = \alpha^2 d\rho^2 + \bar{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} (d\bar{x}^{\bar{\mu}} + \bar{\beta}^{\bar{\mu}} d\rho) (d\bar{x}^{\bar{\nu}} + \bar{\beta}^{\bar{\nu}} d\rho), \tag{A.1}$$

with which the Einstein equation is decomposed to the evolution equation

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}\partial_{\rho}\bar{K}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}} = \bar{R}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}} - \bar{K}\bar{K}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}} + \frac{1}{\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\bar{\beta}}\bar{K}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\bar{\nabla}^{\bar{\mu}}\bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\nu}}\alpha, \tag{A.2}$$

the scalar constraint

$$\bar{K}^2 - \bar{K}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}}\bar{K}^{\bar{\nu}}{}_{\bar{\mu}} - R = 0, \tag{A.3}$$

and the vector constraint

$$\bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\nu}}\bar{K}^{\bar{\nu}}{}_{\mu} - \bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\mu}}\bar{K} = 0, \tag{A.4}$$

where $\bar{K}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}}$ and $\bar{R}^{\bar{\mu}}{}_{\bar{\nu}}$ are the extrinsic and intrinsic curvature for $\bar{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$, respectively.

We assume the intrinsic geometry has the isometry of a S^1 fiber over $\mathbb{C}P^{N-1}$

$$\bar{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{\mu}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{\nu}} = g_{\mu\nu}(x)\xi^{\mu}\xi^{\nu} + h(x)^{2}\gamma_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b}, \qquad \xi^{\mu} = dx^{\mu} + \delta^{\mu}{}_{\psi}\mathcal{A}_{a}dy^{a},$$
(A.5)

in which γ_{ab} and \mathcal{A}_a are the Fubini-Study metric and Kähler potential of $\mathbb{C}P^{N-1}$ and ψ is the fiber coordinate. The shift vector is given by

$$\bar{\beta}_{\bar{\mu}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{\mu}} = \beta_{\mu}dx^{\mu} + \beta_{\psi}\mathcal{A}_{a}dy^{a}, \qquad \bar{\beta}^{\bar{\mu}}\partial_{\bar{\mu}} = \beta^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}.$$
(A.6)

The components of the extrinsic curvature are given by

$$\bar{K}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2\alpha}g^{\mu\alpha}(\partial_{\rho}g_{\alpha\nu} - \nabla_{\alpha}\beta_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\beta_{\alpha}), \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\bar{K}^{a}{}_{b} = K_{\Sigma} \,\delta^{a}{}_{b} := \frac{1}{\alpha} (\partial_{\rho} - \beta^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}) \log h \,\delta^{a}{}_{b}, \tag{A.8}$$

$$\bar{K}^{a}{}_{\mu} = 0, \qquad \bar{K}^{\mu}{}_{a} = \mathcal{A}_{a}\bar{K}^{\mu}{}_{\psi} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\psi}A_{b}\bar{K}^{b}{}_{a},$$
(A.9)

where the quantities without the bar are for $g_{\mu\nu}$. The mean curvature is written as

$$\bar{K} = K + (2N - 2)K_{\Sigma}.$$
 (A.10)

 $^{^{4}}$ The computation of the 1/D-expansion on the Mathematica takes considerably longer times as the dimension of the non-symmetric subspace increases.

Eq. (A.2) are decomposed to

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}\partial_{\rho}K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \bar{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \bar{K}K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\beta}K^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\alpha, \qquad (A.11a)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}(\partial_{\rho} - \beta^{\mu}\partial_{\mu})K_{\Sigma} = R_{\Sigma} - \bar{K}K_{\Sigma} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\partial^{\mu}\alpha\partial_{\mu}\log h, \qquad (A.11b)$$

where the curvature tensors of the intrinsic metric are given by

$$\bar{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - 2(N-1)(h^{-1}\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}h - h^{-4}\delta^{\mu}{}_{\psi}g_{\nu\psi}), \qquad (A.12)$$

and

$$\bar{R}^{a}{}_{b} = R_{\Sigma} \delta^{a}{}_{b} := \left[2Nh^{-2} - 2h^{-4}g_{\psi\psi} - (2N-3)h^{-2}(\nabla^{\mu}h)(\nabla_{\mu}h) - h^{-1}\nabla^{2}h \right] \delta^{a}{}_{b}.$$
(A.13)

The nonzero components of the constraints are given by

$$\bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\nu}}\bar{K}^{\bar{\nu}}{}_{\mu} - \bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{K} = \nabla_{\nu}K^{\nu}{}_{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu}\bar{K} + 2(N-1)\partial_{\nu}\log hK^{\nu}{}_{\mu} - 2N\partial_{\mu}\log hK_{\Sigma} = 0, \qquad (A.14)$$

and

$$\bar{K}^2 - K^{\mu}_{\ \nu}K^{\nu}_{\ \mu} - (2N-2)K^2_{\Sigma} - R = 0.$$
(A.15)

To solve the metric (2.18) in the 1/D-expansion, we set

$$\rho = \mathsf{R} := r^{2N}, \qquad \beta_{\mu} dx^{\mu} := \frac{U}{2N\mathsf{R}^{1-\frac{1}{2N}}} e^{(0)}, \qquad \alpha := \sqrt{-\beta_{\mu}\beta^{\mu}}, \tag{A.16}$$

and

$$g_{\mu\nu}\xi^{\mu}\xi^{\nu} = -A(e^{(0)})^2 - 2C_i e^{(0)}e^{(i)} + H_{ij}e^{(i)}e^{(j)}, \quad h = r\sin\theta.$$
(A.17)

B Asymptotic behavior in the boosted ansatz

In this section, we relate the asymptotic form of the ansatz (2.18) with the flat background

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + dr^{2} + r^{2}\bar{\Phi}^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta\cos^{2}\theta\Psi^{2} + r^{2}d\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}, \qquad (B.1)$$

where $\bar{\Phi} := d\bar{\phi} + \sin^2 \theta \Psi$. We assume the horizon is placed around $r = r_0$. To keep the calculation explicit, we do not set $r_0 = 1$ throughout this section. One can easily obtain the formula used in the main part by setting $r_0 = 1$. First, we switch to the Eddington-Finkelstein coordinate,

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + r^{2}\Phi^{2} + \frac{2(dt - r_{0}^{2}\Omega\Phi)dr}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{r_{0}^{4}\Omega^{2}}{r^{2}}}} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta\cos^{2}\theta\Psi^{2} + r^{2}d\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}, \qquad (B.2)$$

by the transformation

$$d\bar{t} = dt - \frac{dr}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{r_0^4 \Omega^2}{r^2}}}, \qquad d\bar{\phi} = d\phi - \frac{r_0^2 \Omega}{r^2} \frac{dr}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{r_0^4 \Omega^2}{r^2}}}, \tag{B.3}$$

where $\Phi := d\phi + \sin^2 \theta \Psi$. In terms of the local boosted frame around $r = r_0$,

$$e^{(0)} := \gamma(dt - r_0^2 \Omega \Phi), \qquad e^{(1)} := r_0 \gamma(\Phi - \Omega dt), \qquad e^{(2)} := r_0 d\theta, \qquad e^{(3)} := r_0 \sin \theta \cos \theta \Psi,$$
(B.4)

where $\gamma := (1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2)^{-1/2}$, the background geometry (B.2) is written as

$$ds^{2} = -\gamma^{2}(1 - r^{2}\Omega^{2})(e^{(0)})^{2} + \frac{2e^{(0)}dr}{\gamma\sqrt{1 - \frac{r_{0}^{4}\Omega^{2}}{r^{2}}}} + 2r_{0}\Omega\gamma^{2}\left(\frac{r^{2}}{r_{0}^{2}} - 1\right)e^{(0)}e^{(1)} + \frac{r^{2}}{r_{0}^{2}}\left[\gamma^{2}\left(1 - \frac{r_{0}^{4}\Omega^{2}}{r^{2}}\right)(e^{(1)})^{2} + (e^{(2)})^{2} + (e^{(3)})^{2}\right].$$
(B.5)

With $\mathsf{R} := (r/r_0)^{2N}$, this determines the asymptotic behavior of the metric functions in

$$ds^{2} = -A(e^{(0)})^{2} + 2Ue^{(0)}dr - 2C_{i}e^{(0)}e^{(i)} + H_{ij}e^{(i)}e^{(j)} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2},$$
(B.6)

 \mathbf{as}

$$A = \gamma^2 (1 - r^2 \Omega^2) + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{R}^{-1}) = 1 - \frac{r_0^2 \Omega^2}{1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2} \frac{\log \mathsf{R}}{N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}, \mathsf{R}^{-1}),$$
(B.7)

$$U = \sqrt{\frac{1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2}{1 - \frac{r_0^4 \Omega^2}{r^2}}} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{R}^{-1}) = 1 + \frac{r_0^2 \Omega^2}{1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2} \frac{\log \mathsf{R}}{N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}, \mathsf{R}^{-1}),$$
(B.8)

$$C_{i} = \frac{r_{0}\Omega\left(1 - \frac{r^{2}}{r_{0}^{2}}\right)}{1 - r_{0}^{2}\Omega^{2}}\delta_{i1} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{R}^{-1}) = -\frac{r_{0}\Omega}{1 - r_{0}^{2}\Omega^{2}}\delta_{i1}\frac{\log\mathsf{R}}{N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}, \mathsf{R}^{-1}), \qquad (B.9)$$

and

$$H_{ij} = \frac{r^2}{r_0^2} \left[\delta_{ij} + \frac{r_0^2 \Omega^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_0^2}{r^2} \right)}{1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2} \delta_{i1} \delta_{j1} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{R}^{-1}) = \delta_{ij} + \left(\delta_{ij} + \frac{r_0^2 \Omega^2 \delta_{i1} \delta_{j1}}{1 - r_0^2 \Omega^2} \right) \frac{\log \mathsf{R}}{N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}, \mathsf{R}^{-1}).$$
(B.10)

C Local event horizon, entropy and temperature

In this section, we derive the formula involving the local event horizon in the metric (2.18) without the large D limit. The local event horizon $r = r_h(t, \phi, \theta)$ is defined as a null hypersurface $||dr - dr_h||^2 = 0$ [46]. The derivative of r_h is written as

$$dr_h = \partial_0 r_h e^{(0)} + \partial_i r_h e^{(i)}, \tag{C.1}$$

where the dual basis is

$$\partial_0 := \gamma(\partial_t + \Omega \partial_\phi), \quad \partial_1 := \gamma(\partial_\phi + \Omega \partial_t), \quad \partial_2 := \partial_\theta, \quad \partial_3 := \csc\theta \sec\theta \partial_\psi - \tan\theta \partial_\phi.$$
(C.2)

The null condition becomes

$$A - 2U\partial_0 r_h + H_{ij}v^i v^j\Big|_H = 0, \qquad (C.3)$$

where

$$v^{i} := H^{ij}(C_{j} - U\partial_{i}r_{h})\Big|_{H}.$$
(C.4)

The horizon cross section is then given by

$$ds_{H}^{2} = H_{ij}(e^{(i)} - v^{i}e^{(0)})(e^{(j)} - v^{j}e^{(0)}) + r_{h}^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2}.$$
 (C.5)

In the coordinate basis, this is written as

$$ds_{H}^{2} = \tilde{H}_{ab}(dz^{a} - v^{a}dt)(dz^{b} - v^{b}dt) + r_{h}^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2},$$
 (C.6)

where $a, b = \phi, \theta, \psi$ and

$$v^{\phi} = \frac{\Omega + v^{1}}{1 + \Omega v^{1}} - v^{\psi} \sin^{2} \theta, \qquad v^{\theta} = v^{2} \frac{\gamma(1 - \Omega^{2})}{1 + \Omega v^{1}}, \qquad v^{\psi} = \frac{v^{3}}{\cos \theta \sin \theta} \frac{\gamma(1 - \Omega^{2})}{1 + \Omega v^{1}}.$$
 (C.7)

It is also convenient to define

$$v^{\Phi} := v^{\phi} + v^{\psi} \sin^2 \theta = \frac{\Omega + v^1}{1 + \Omega v^1}.$$
 (C.8)

 H_{ij} and \tilde{H}_{ab} are related by

$$\begin{pmatrix} e^{(1)} - v^{1} e^{(0)} \\ e^{(2)} - v^{2} e^{(0)} \\ e^{(3)} - v^{3} e^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma (1 - \Omega v^{\Phi}) \ 0 & 0 \\ \gamma \Omega v^{2} & 1 & 0 \\ \gamma \Omega v^{3} & 0 \sin \theta \cos \theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Phi - v^{\Phi} dt, \\ d\theta - v^{\theta} dt \\ \Psi - v^{\psi} dt \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.9)

which leads to

$$\sqrt{\det \tilde{H}} = \sin \theta \cos \theta \gamma (1 - \Omega v^{\Phi}) \sqrt{\det H}.$$
 (C.10)

Thus, the entropy formula is given by

$$S = \frac{n\Omega_{n+1}}{4G\gamma} \int_0^{\pi/2} d\theta \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\phi}{2\pi} \frac{r_h^{n-1}\cos\theta\sin^{n-1}\theta}{1+\Omega v^1} \sqrt{\det H},$$
 (C.11)

where we used the property

$$1 - \Omega v^{\Phi} = \frac{1 - \Omega^2}{1 + \Omega v^1}.$$
 (C.12)

On the other hand, the null generator of the horizon becomes

$$\xi = \partial_t + v^{\phi} \partial_{\phi} + v^{\theta} \partial_{\theta} + v^{\psi} \partial_{\psi}.$$
 (C.13)

If ξ is the Killing vector on the horizon, one can find the surface gravity is given by

$$\kappa = \left. \frac{\partial_r \tilde{A}}{2U} \frac{1}{\gamma (1 + \Omega v^1)} \right|_H,\tag{C.14}$$

where

$$\tilde{A} = A - 2U\partial_0 r_H + 2v^i (C_i - U\partial_i r_H), \qquad (C.15)$$

and hence the Hawking-Bekenstein temperature

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} = \left. \frac{\partial_r \tilde{A}}{4\pi U} \frac{1}{\gamma(1+\Omega v^1)} \right|_H.$$
 (C.16)

D D = 2N + 3 Myers-Perry black holes

In this section, we review the properties of Myers-Perry solution in D = 2N + 3, whose metric, in general, is given by [1]

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \frac{\mu\bar{r}^{2}}{\Pi F} \left(dt + \sum_{i=0}^{N} a_{i}\mu_{i}^{2}d\phi_{i} \right)^{2} + \frac{\Pi F}{\Pi - \mu\bar{r}^{2}}d\bar{r}^{2} + \sum_{i=0}^{N} (\bar{r}^{2} + a_{i}^{2})(d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2}d\phi_{i}^{2}),$$
(D.1)

where μ_i is the directional cosine which satisfies $\sum_{i=0}^{N} \mu_i^2 = 1$ and

$$F = 1 - \sum_{i=0}^{N} \frac{a_i^2 \mu_i^2}{\bar{r}^2 + a_i^2}, \qquad \Pi = \prod_{i=0}^{N} (\bar{r}^2 + a_i^2).$$
(D.2)

We particularly interested in the case where the majority of spins are equal.

D.1 Equal angular momenta: N + 1 equal spins

First, we revisit the known expression with equal spins $a_i = a$ [45]. In the new coordinates

$$r = \sqrt{\bar{r}^2 + a^2}, \qquad \phi = \phi_0, \qquad \zeta^{\alpha} = (\mu_{\alpha}/\mu_0)e^{i(\phi_{\alpha} - \phi_0)},$$
 (D.3)

where $\{\zeta^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=1,\dots,N}$ are the Fubini-Study coordinates for $\mathbb{C}P^{N}$, the metric (D.1) reduces to

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{F(r)}{H(r)}dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{F(r)} + r^{2}H(r)^{2}(d\phi + \mathcal{A}_{N} + \Omega(r)dt)^{2} + r^{2}d\Sigma_{N}^{2},$$
(D.4)

where \mathcal{A}_N and $d\Sigma_N^2$ is the Kähler potential and Fubini-Study metric on $\mathbb{C}P^N$. With $\mu := r_0^{2N}$, the metric functions are written by

$$F(r) = 1 - \frac{r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N}} + \frac{a^2 r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2}}, \qquad H(r) = 1 + \frac{a^2 r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2}}, \qquad \Omega(r) = -\frac{a r_0^{2N}}{r^{2N+2} H(r)}. \tag{D.5}$$

The position of the event horizon is determined by

$$F(r_{+}) = 1 - \frac{r_{0}^{2N}}{r_{+}^{2N}} + \frac{a^{2}r_{0}^{2N}}{r_{+}^{2N+2}} = 0.$$
 (D.6)

The thermodynamic variables for this solution are obtained as follows

$$M = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}}{8\pi G} \mu \left(N + \frac{1}{2} \right), \quad J_{\phi} = \frac{\Omega_{2n+1}}{8\pi G} \mu (N+1)a, \tag{D.7}$$

$$\Omega_{\phi} = \frac{a}{r_{+}^{2}}, \qquad S = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}}{4G} \mu^{1/2} r_{+}^{N+1}, \qquad T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} = \frac{N \mu^{1/2}}{2\pi r_{+}^{N+1}} \left(1 - \frac{N+1}{N} \frac{a^{2}}{r_{+}^{2}} \right). \tag{D.8}$$

With the decomposition (2.6), one can also calculate

$$J_{\psi} = \frac{N}{N+1} J_{\phi}, \quad \Omega_{\psi} = 0. \tag{D.9}$$

In particular, the mass normalized angular momentum and entropy are given by

$$j_{\phi} := \frac{8\pi G J_{\phi}}{(N+1)\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{16\pi G M}{(2N+1)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-\frac{2N+1}{2N}} = \frac{a}{r_0},$$

$$j_{\psi} := \frac{8\pi G J_{\psi}}{N\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{16\pi G M}{(2N+1)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-\frac{2N+1}{2N}} = \frac{a}{r_0},$$

$$s := \frac{4GS}{\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{16\pi G M}{(2N+1)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-\frac{2N+1}{2N}} = \frac{r_+}{r_0} \sqrt{1 - \frac{a^2}{r_+^2}}.$$
(D.10)

D.2 Almost equal angular momenta: N equal spins

Now, we assume N of N + 1 spins are the same

$$a_0 = a, \quad a_i = b \ (i = 1, \dots, N).$$
 (D.11)

0.17.1.1

We introduce the following coordinates

$$r = \sqrt{\bar{r}^2 + b^2}, \quad \theta = \arccos \mu_0, \phi = \phi_0, \quad \psi = \phi_N - \phi_0, \quad u^i = (\mu_i / \mu_N) e^{i(\phi_i - \phi_N)},$$
(D.12)

where $\{u^i\}_{i=1,\dots,N-1}$ are the coordinates in the Fubini-Study metric for $\mathbb{C}P^{N-1}$. With this, the metric (D.1) reduces to

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{F\Delta}{H}dt^{2} + \frac{G}{F}dr^{2} + r^{2}Gd\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta \left(1 + \frac{b^{2}\mu\sin^{2}\theta}{r^{2N+2}G}\right)(d\psi + \mathcal{A} + V_{\psi}dt)^{2} + 2\left(r^{2} + \frac{\mu b(a + (b - a)\sin^{2}\theta)}{r^{2N}G}\right)\sin^{2}\theta(d\phi + V_{\phi}dt)(d\psi + \mathcal{A} + V_{\psi}dt) + \left(r^{2} + (a^{2} - b^{2})\cos^{2}\theta + \frac{\mu(a + (b - a)\sin^{2}\theta)}{r^{2N}G}\right)(d\phi + V_{\phi}dt)^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\Sigma^{2},$$
(D.13)

where \mathcal{A} and $d\Sigma^2$ are the Kähler potential and the metric on $\mathbb{C}P^{N-1}$, respectively. The functions in the metric are given as follows

$$F = 1 + \frac{a^2 - b^2}{r^2} - \frac{\mu(r^2 - b^2)}{r^{2N+2}}, \quad G = 1 + \frac{1}{r^2}(a^2 - b^2)\sin^2\theta,$$

$$H = 1 + \frac{a^2 - b^2}{r^2} + \frac{\mu a^2}{r^{2N+2}}, \quad B = H + \frac{(a^2 - b^2)F}{r^2}\sin^2\theta,$$

$$V_{\phi} = \frac{a\mu}{r^{2N+2}B}, \quad V_{\psi} = \frac{(a - b)(b^2 + ab - r^2)\mu}{r^{2N+4}B},$$

$$\Delta = 1 + \frac{(r^2 + a^2 - b^2)(a^2 - b^2)\mu\sin^2\theta}{r^{2N+4}B}.$$
 (D.14)

One can easily see that this metric reduces to the equally-rotating case by setting a = band using the decomposition in eq. (2.6). The horizon is given by the largest root of

$$F(r_{+}) = 1 + \frac{a^2 - b^2}{r_{+}^2} - \frac{\mu(r_{+}^2 - b^2)}{r_{+}^{2N+2}} = 0.$$
 (D.15)

Then, one can write a as function of r_+ and b. The thermodynamics are given by

$$M = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}\mu}{8\pi G} \left(N + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad J_{\phi} = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}\mu}{8\pi G} (a+Nb), \qquad J_{\psi} = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}\mu}{8\pi G} Nb,$$

$$\Omega_{\phi} = \frac{a}{a^2 - b^2 + r_+^2}, \qquad \Omega_{\psi} = \frac{b}{r_+^2} - \frac{a}{a^2 - b^2 + r_+^2}, \qquad S = \frac{\Omega_{2N+1}\mu}{4G} \sqrt{r_+^2 - b^2},$$

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{r_+^2 - b^2}} \left(N \left(1 - \frac{b^2}{r_+^2}\right) - \frac{a^2}{r_+^2 + a^2 - b^2}\right).$$
(D.16)

It is easy to check the Smarr formula and first law hold by differentiating with μ, r_+ and b,

$$\frac{2N}{2N+1}M = TS + \Omega_{\phi}J_{\phi} + \Omega_{\psi}J_{\psi}, \qquad (D.17)$$

$$\delta M = T\delta S + \Omega_{\phi}\delta J_{\phi} + \Omega_{\psi}\delta J_{\psi}.$$
 (D.18)

With $\mu := r_0^{2N}$, the scale invariant expressions are given as

$$j_{\phi} = \frac{8\pi G J_{\phi}}{(N+1)\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{8\pi G M}{(N+1/2)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-1-\frac{1}{2N}} = \frac{Nb+a}{(N+1)r_0},$$
 (D.19a)

$$j_{\psi} = \frac{8\pi G J_{\psi}}{N\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{8\pi G M}{(N+1/2)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-1-\frac{4}{2N}} = \frac{b}{r_0},\tag{D.19b}$$

$$s = \frac{4GS}{\Omega_{2N+1}} \left(\frac{8\pi GM}{(N+1/2)\Omega_{2N+1}}\right)^{-1-\frac{1}{2N}} = \frac{r_+}{r_0} \sqrt{1-\frac{b^2}{r_+^2}},$$
 (D.19c)

and

$$\tilde{\Omega}_{\phi} = r_0 \Omega_{\phi} = \frac{ar_0}{a^2 - b^2 + r_+^2}, \qquad \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi} = r_0 \Omega_{\psi} = \frac{br_0}{r_+^2} - \frac{ar_0}{a^2 - b^2 + r_+^2}.$$
 (D.19d)

Large *D* **limit.** To compare with the solution in the main part, we take the large *D* limit (or large *N* limit) of the thermodynamic variables. Since $r_+ = r_0 + \mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$, we obtain

$$\tilde{\Omega} := \tilde{\Omega}_{\phi} + \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi} \simeq \frac{b}{r_0}, \quad \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi} \simeq \frac{b}{r_0} - \frac{ar_0}{a^2 - b^2 + r_0^2}$$
(D.20)

and

$$j_{\phi} \simeq j_{\psi} \simeq \frac{b}{r_0} \simeq \tilde{\Omega}, \quad s \simeq \sqrt{1 - \frac{b^2}{r_0^2}} \simeq \sqrt{1 - \tilde{\Omega}^2}.$$
 (D.21)

The difference between two angular momenta becomes

$$\Delta j := 2N(j_{\psi} - j_{\phi}) \simeq \frac{2(b-a)}{r_0}.$$
 (D.22)

Since eq. (D.20) leads to

$$\frac{a}{r_0} \simeq \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 4(1 - \tilde{\Omega}^2)(\tilde{\Omega} - \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi})^2}}{2(\tilde{\Omega} - \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi})},\tag{D.23}$$

eq. (D.22) can be expressed as the relation between the normalized quantities

$$\Delta j \simeq 2\tilde{\Omega} - \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 4(1 - \tilde{\Omega}^2)(\tilde{\Omega} - \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi})^2}}{\tilde{\Omega} - \tilde{\Omega}_{\psi}}.$$
 (D.24)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- R.C. Myers and M.J. Perry, Black Holes in Higher Dimensional Space-Times, Annals Phys. 172 (1986) 304 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R. Emparan and H.S. Reall, A Rotating black ring solution in five-dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 101101 [hep-th/0110260] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A.A. Pomeransky and R.A. Sen'kov, *Black ring with two angular momenta*, hep-th/0612005 [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Elvang and P. Figueras, *Black Saturn*, *JHEP* **05** (2007) 050 [hep-th/0701035] [INSPIRE].
- [5] H. Iguchi and T. Mishima, Black di-ring and infinite nonuniqueness, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 064018 [Erratum ibid. 78 (2008) 069903] [hep-th/0701043] [INSPIRE].
- [6] H. Elvang and M.J. Rodriguez, *Bicycling Black Rings*, *JHEP* 04 (2008) 045 [arXiv:0712.2425] [INSPIRE].
- [7] K. Izumi, Orthogonal black di-ring solution, Prog. Theor. Phys. 119 (2008) 757
 [arXiv:0712.0902] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Evslin, Geometric Engineering 5d Black Holes with Rod Diagrams, JHEP 09 (2008) 004
 [arXiv:0806.3389] [INSPIRE].
- Y. Chen and E. Teo, A Rotating black lens solution in five dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 064062 [arXiv:0808.0587] [INSPIRE].
- [10] S. Tomizawa and T. Mishima, Stationary and biaxisymmetric four-soliton solution in five dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 104053 [arXiv:1902.10544] [INSPIRE].
- [11] J. Lucietti and F. Tomlinson, On the nonexistence of a vacuum black lens, JHEP 21 (2020) 005 [arXiv:2012.00381] [INSPIRE].
- [12] H.K. Kunduri and J. Lucietti, Supersymmetric Black Holes with Lens-Space Topology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 211101 [arXiv:1408.6083] [INSPIRE].
- S. Tomizawa and M. Nozawa, Supersymmetric black lenses in five dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 044037 [arXiv:1606.06643] [INSPIRE].
- [14] R. Emparan and R.C. Myers, Instability of ultra-spinning black holes, JHEP 09 (2003) 025 [hep-th/0308056] [INSPIRE].
- [15] O.J.C. Dias, P. Figueras, R. Monteiro and J.E. Santos, Ultraspinning instability of rotating black holes, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 104025 [arXiv:1006.1904] [INSPIRE].
- [16] O.J.C. Dias et al., An instability of higher-dimensional rotating black holes, JHEP 05 (2010) 076 [arXiv:1001.4527] [INSPIRE].
- [17] O.J.C. Dias, R. Monteiro and J.E. Santos, Ultraspinning instability: the missing link, JHEP 08 (2011) 139 [arXiv:1106.4554] [INSPIRE].
- [18] P. Figueras, M. Kunesch, L. Lehner and S. Tunyasuvunakool, End Point of the Ultraspinning Instability and Violation of Cosmic Censorship, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 151103 [arXiv:1702.01755] [INSPIRE].

- [19] L. Lehner and F. Pretorius, Black Strings, Low Viscosity Fluids, and Violation of Cosmic Censorship, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 101102 [arXiv:1006.5960] [INSPIRE].
- [20] R. Emparan, P. Figueras and M. Martinez, Bumpy black holes, JHEP 12 (2014) 072 [arXiv:1410.4764] [INSPIRE].
- [21] Ó.J.C. Dias, J.E. Santos and B. Way, Rings, Ripples, and Rotation: Connecting Black Holes to Black Rings, JHEP 07 (2014) 045 [arXiv:1402.6345] [INSPIRE].
- [22] V. Asnin et al., High and Low Dimensions in The Black Hole Negative Mode, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 5527 [arXiv:0706.1555] [INSPIRE].
- [23] R. Emparan, R. Suzuki and K. Tanabe, The large D limit of General Relativity, JHEP 06 (2013) 009 [arXiv:1302.6382] [INSPIRE].
- [24] R. Emparan and C.P. Herzog, Large D limit of Einstein's equations, Rev. Mod. Phys. 92 (2020) 045005 [arXiv:2003.11394] [INSPIRE].
- [25] R. Emparan et al., Effective theory of Black Holes in the 1/D expansion, JHEP 06 (2015) 159 [arXiv:1504.06489] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Bhattacharyya et al., A membrane paradigm at large D, JHEP 04 (2016) 076 [arXiv:1504.06613] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Bhattacharyya, M. Mandlik, S. Minwalla and S. Thakur, A Charged Membrane Paradigm at Large D, JHEP 04 (2016) 128 [arXiv:1511.03432] [INSPIRE].
- [28] R. Emparan, D. Grumiller and K. Tanabe, Large-D gravity and low-D strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251102 [arXiv:1303.1995] [INSPIRE].
- [29] R. Emparan, R. Suzuki and K. Tanabe, Instability of rotating black holes: large D analysis, JHEP 06 (2014) 106 [arXiv:1402.6215] [INSPIRE].
- [30] R. Suzuki and K. Tanabe, Stationary black holes: Large D analysis, JHEP 09 (2015) 193
 [arXiv:1505.01282] [INSPIRE].
- [31] K. Tanabe, Charged rotating black holes at large D, arXiv:1605.08854 [INSPIRE].
- [32] R. Suzuki and S. Tomizawa, Rotating black holes at large D in Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 024018 [arXiv:2202.12649] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Andrade, R. Emparan and D. Licht, Rotating black holes and black bars at large D, JHEP
 09 (2018) 107 [arXiv:1807.01131] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Andrade, R. Emparan and D. Licht, Charged rotating black holes in higher dimensions, JHEP 02 (2019) 076 [arXiv:1810.06993] [INSPIRE].
- [35] D. Licht, R. Luna and R. Suzuki, Black Ripples, Flowers and Dumbbells at large D, JHEP 04 (2020) 108 [arXiv:2002.07813] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R. Suzuki, Black hole interactions at large D: brane blobology, JHEP 02 (2021) 131 [arXiv:2009.11823] [INSPIRE].
- [37] T. Andrade, R. Emparan, D. Licht and R. Luna, Black hole collisions, instabilities, and cosmic censorship violation at large D, JHEP 09 (2019) 099 [arXiv:1908.03424] [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Andrade, R. Emparan, D. Licht and R. Luna, Cosmic censorship violation in black hole collisions in higher dimensions, JHEP 04 (2019) 121 [arXiv:1812.05017] [INSPIRE].

- [39] T. Andrade, P. Figueras and U. Sperhake, Evidence for violations of Weak Cosmic Censorship in black hole collisions in higher dimensions, JHEP 03 (2022) 111 [arXiv:2011.03049]
 [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Andrade et al., Entropy production and entropic attractors in black hole fusion and fission, JHEP 08 (2020) 098 [arXiv:2005.14498] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Luna and M. Sanchez-Garitaonandia, Holographic collisions in large D effective theory, JHEP 02 (2023) 147 [arXiv:2212.14440] [INSPIRE].
- [42] R. Emparan et al., Black tsunamis and naked singularities in AdS, JHEP 02 (2022) 090 [arXiv:2112.07967] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Licht, R. Suzuki and B. Way, The large D effective theory of black strings in AdS, JHEP 12 (2022) 146 [arXiv:2211.04333] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R. Emparan et al., Holographic duals of evaporating black holes, JHEP 05 (2023) 182
 [arXiv:2301.02587] [INSPIRE].
- [45] H.K. Kunduri, J. Lucietti and H.S. Reall, Gravitational perturbations of higher dimensional rotating black holes: Tensor perturbations, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 084021 [hep-th/0606076]
 [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Bhattacharyya et al., Local Fluid Dynamical Entropy from Gravity, JHEP 06 (2008) 055 [arXiv:0803.2526] [INSPIRE].
- [47] O.J.C. Dias, G.T. Horowitz and J.E. Santos, Black holes with only one Killing field, JHEP 07 (2011) 115 [arXiv:1105.4167] [INSPIRE].
- [48] Ó.J.C. Dias, J.E. Santos and B. Way, Black holes with a single Killing vector field: black resonators, JHEP 12 (2015) 171 [arXiv:1505.04793] [INSPIRE].
- [49] T. Ishii and K. Murata, Black resonators and geons in AdS5, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 125011 [arXiv:1810.11089] [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Ishii and K. Murata, Photonic black resonators and photon stars in AdS₅, Class. Quant. Grav. 37 (2020) 075009 [arXiv:1910.03234] [INSPIRE].
- [51] T. Ishii, K. Murata, J.E. Santos and B. Way, Superradiant instability of black resonators and geons, JHEP 07 (2020) 206 [arXiv:2005.01201] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Ishii, K. Murata, J.E. Santos and B. Way, Multioscillating black holes, JHEP 05 (2021) 011 [arXiv:2101.06325] [INSPIRE].
- [53] R. Emparan, R. Suzuki and K. Tanabe, Decoupling and non-decoupling dynamics of large D black holes, JHEP 07 (2014) 113 [arXiv:1406.1258] [INSPIRE].
- [54] O.J.C. Dias et al., Gregory-Laflamme encounters Superradiance, JHEP 01 (2023) 147 [arXiv:2211.02672] [INSPIRE].
- [55] O.J.C. Dias et al., Gregory-Laflamme and superradiance encounter black resonator strings, JHEP 02 (2023) 069 [arXiv:2212.01400] [INSPIRE].